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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

DORIS M. SOLSOL and YOLI SANDRA )
RODRIGUEZ DIAZ, Individually and on )
Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated, )

Plaintiffs,

)

)

) No0.13CV 7652
V. )
)

JudgdrobertW. Gettleman
SCRUB, INC. and TERESA KAMINSKA, )

)
)

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Plaintiffs Doris Solsol and Yoli Rodriguez &, individually and otehalf of all others
similarly situated, have broughatputative collective action congmnt against defendants Scrub,
Inc. (“Scrub”) and Teresa Kaminska, allegwiglations of the Fait.abor Standards Act
(“FLSA"), 29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq. Plaintiffs meofor conditional class certification pursuant to
29 U.S.C. § 216(b) and issuance of a notice @fcthllective action to pential class members.
For the reasons stated below, plaintiffs’ roatis granted in paend denied in part.

BACKGROUND

Scrub is a company that provides janitosatvices in the Chicago area. Defendant
Kaminska was formerly the Owner and PresiddrScrub, but now serves as the company’s
Vice President of Operations. The overwhelming majority of Scrub employees work at O'Hare
International Airport (“O’Hare”) Since at least October 20)1Scrub employees working at
O’Hare provided an array of janitorial services under one ektlypes of contracts the company
had at the airport. Until December 2012, apprately 422 Scrub janitors, including the named

plaintiffs, worked under Scrub’s contract wittet@ity of Chicago to clean public walkways and
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bathrooms at O’Haré.During the relevant time period, /8b also contracted with commercial
airlines and other private companies to provide janitorial sesvior O’'Hare’s gate, concourse,
ticketing, and office areas. Finally, Scrub had seaparantracts with airlies to clean airplane
cabins. Another 145 Scrub janitorsnked at non-airport locations.

Scrub janitors working at O’Hare clock in aodt at the start and erd their shifts. At
non-airport locations, Scrub janitargally report the amount ¢iime worked to supervisors.
Regardless of which way Scrub employees rejpeit time, supervisors fill out Supervisor
Payroll Input Sheets (“input sheets”) to rectd time each janitor worked on a given day.
Sarah Coady, Scrub’s Payroll Specialist, usesdhnput sheets, notttime cards or oral
representations, to tabulegerub’s employee payroll.

Plaintiffs claim that their compensation,dgetermined by the input sheets, violates the
FLSA for several reasons. First, plaintiffidege that defendaitaminska trained Scrub
supervisors to report on the input sheets schddwders only “for the days that [employees] are
there and that they are not late and don't lesaréy.” According to @intiffs, this practice
means that a janitor who starts work early Eades on time or starts work on time and works
late is not compensated for the additional tshe worked. Second gihtiffs allege that
supervisors are taught to round a janitor’s timtheonearest 15 minutes whsine arrives late or
leaves early. For examplejamitor who arrives 5 minutesttamay be docked 15 minutes and,
thus, is uncompensated for 10 minutes of waorkird, plaintiffs allege that 30 minutes are
automatically deducted from each janitor’'s schedwdhift to account for a meal break, even if
the janitor is ordered to ratuto work during the break.

Plaintiffs seek to conditionally certify a slapursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), defined as:

“All hourly non-exempt employees of Defendantstfeeir subsidiaries, affiliates, predecessors

! Defendants do not contest conditional certification of a class of these 422 employees.



and/or successors), employed between Oct®He?010 through to the present, whose payroll
was calculated from supervisor payroll input sheets who were not paid for all time worked.”
At the time plaintiffs filed tle instant motion, 276 Scrub janitdrad opted into the putative
collective action, representiragpproximately 9 percent of Scrub’s more than 3,500 hourly
janitorial employees.

DISCUSSION

A. Legal Standard

Section 216(b) of the FLSA permits plaffgito bring a collective action against an
employer for unpaid minimum wages or overtime compensation on behalf of themselves and
others “similarly situated.” 29 U.S.C. 8§ 216(lA.collective action under section 216(b) differs
from a class action under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 & Rule 23 binds class members unless they opt
out, whereas collective action meenb are bound under section 216ghly if they opt into the

action by providing their written conseriVoods v. New York Life Ins. Cp686 F.2d 578, 579-

80 (7th Cir. 1982).
Courts in this district employ a two-stppocess for determining whether an FLSA

lawsuit should proceed as a collective action. Dailey v. GrouponNac11-C-5685, 2014 WL

4379232, at *3 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 27, 2014). The first steguires the named plaintiff to establish
that the potential class members are similatlyased by making a modest factual showing that
they were victims of a common policy or plan tolaie the law._ld. “[T]he similarly situated
standard is a liberal one . . hiit] typically results in conditiohaertification ofa representative

class.” _Rottman v. Old Second Bancorp, In85 F. Supp. 2d 988, 990 (N.D. Ill. 2010) (internal

guotations omitted). Similarly, ¢hmodest factual showing standi@s lenient and demands only

some factual support. Johnson v. Pips, Inc., No. 12-C-1018, 2013 WL 5408657, at *2




(N.D. lll. Sept. 26, 2013). In applying these stadda‘“the court does not consider the merits of

a plaintiff's claims, or witngs credibility.” Nehmelman v. Penn Nat. Gaming, Inc., 822 F. Supp.

2d 745, 751 (N.D. Ill. 2011).

At the second step, which takes place folloyvdiscovery, the analysis more rigid and
requires the court to consider: “(1) whether trargiffs share similar odisparate factual and
employment settings; (2) whether the variofisraative defenses available to the defendant
would have to be individually applied to egaaintiff; and (3) fairness and procedural
concerns.”_Dailey2014 WL 4379232, at *3. “At that tima,defendant may move to decertify
the case or divide the class into subs&s.” _Johnson, 2013 WL 5408657, at *3 (internal
guotations omitted).

B. Analysis

At this stage of the proceedings, the coouist determine whether the named plaintiffs
have made a “modest factual showing” suéfitito demonstratedhthe proposed class
members were potentially victinod a common policy or plan that violated the FLSA. Gambo v.

Lucent Technologies, Inc., No. 05-C-3701, 2005 8842485, at *4 (N.D. lll. Dec. 22, 2005).

As discussed above, defendants do not contest conditional certificatibrsofub janitors who
worked at O’Hare under the company’s contkaith the city. Defendats, however, do contest
including as a part of the lbective action Scrub janitorshe worked outside of O’Hare
(approximately 145 employees) and janitors wiooked at O’Hare under private contracts
(approximately 3,500 employees). In oppositiondonditional certifi@tion of this broad class,
defendants argue that plaintifisive failed to present evidamto support a showing that a
common policy or plan existed in regardhese two groups of prpsctive plaintiffs.

Specifically, defendants contetftht plaintiffs have not presented any evidence concerning



Scrub janitors who worked abn-airport locations and hapeesented limited evidence
concerning O’Hare janitorho did not work undethe city contract.

As discussed above, plaintiif&aim that defendants violatéldat FLSA in three ways.
First, plaintiffs contend thatefendants violated the FLSA byypag janitors only for the time
they were scheduled to work, even whenrat¢a began work before or worked after her
scheduled shift time. Plaintiffs have subndteesubstantial amount e¥idence in support of
this allegation, includig testimony from defendants’ witnesses, employee time cards and input
sheets, and declarations frapt-in plaintiffs. Most significantly, a multitude of employee
punch cards show that many Scrub janitorsked more hours thathe scheduled 8 hours
supervisors reported on their input shéeBecause janitor pay is determined by the input sheets
and not the employee punch cardggpears that janitors were frequently underpaid. These
punch cards and input sheets, without more, provide more than a sufficient showing that a

practice of violating the FLSA was in placBee Campbell v. Advantage Sales & Mktg., LLC,

No. 09-CV-1430, 2010 WL 3326752, at *4 (S.D. Ind. Aug. 24, 2010) (explaining that an
employer may be liable for an FLSA violationcocring as the result a common practice); see

also Russell v. lllinois Bell Tel. Co., N68-C-1871, 2010 WL 2595234, at *9 (N.D. Ill. June 28,

2010).

In addition to this physical éence, plaintiffs also argubat defendant Kaminska’s
testimony and declarations from various opt-iaiptiffs support their eim of a common policy
or plan to pay janitors onlpr their scheduled shift time. For example, one opt-in plaintiff

stated in her declaration thelte was trained to report schedudbifts on input sheets even when

2 Defendants incorrectly contendattplaintiffs identified onlya single janitor who worked at
O’Hare under a private contract whose punaikg€and input sheets did not match. While
plaintiffs pointed to only onsuch employee in their motion, the attached exhibits provide
numerous examples of Scrub janitors workimgler private contractg O’Hare who were
underpaid based on when they punched in and out.



employees began work early or finished wotk laSimilarly, defendant Kaminska testified,
although somewhat inconsistentligat she trained supervisorsrark only scheduled hours “for
the days that [employees] are there and tegt #ne not late and ddrieave early” and that
Scrub paid janitors “from the time when [their] shift starts.”

Defendants’ contentions that employees weerequired to come to work early is
irrelevant for purposes of the FLSA. The FL8Bligates employers to pay employees for work
“even where the employer has not requestedvieetime be performed or does not desire the

employee to work, or where the employee failssfoort his overtime hos.” Kellar v. Summit

Seating Inc., 664 F.3d 169, 177 (7th Cir. 2011hnétheless, plaintiffs have submitted some
evidence that janitors were in fact require@tove before their scheduled shift time. For
example, two opt-in plaintiffs who had supervisooles in addition taheir janitorial work
submitted declarations that they were trained qoiire janitors to arrive at least 15 minutes prior
to the start of their scheduled shifts tdlect and prepare supplies and equipment.

Contrary to defendants’ contentions, the ewick thus far also indicates that when
janitors arrived early they performed compensable tasks, such as collecting supplies, completing
mandatory stretches, and performing other activitiaswere essential to their work. Similarly,
defendants’ argument that supeorsdid not know janitors wettgeginning work early is not
supported by the evidence or defendants’ own position. If, as defendants contend, supervisors
were calculating employee hourg the input sheets based when the employee punched in
and out, and not solely on the employee’s scleelishift time, supervisors should have been
aware that employees were workingrethan their scheduled hours.

Defendants contend that plaintiffs’ evideriads to establish aommon unlawful policy

or plan, because “multiple Scrub witnesses hastfied that there is . . . no company policy to



round janitor time entries to tlseheduled hours, and that indiual supervisors devise their
own rounding practices, if any.” Plaintiffs, hewer, have presented evidence from multiple
Scrub employees with different levels of responsibility who all stiw@idsupervisors were
trained to engage in the allegpractice. While the implementation of this alleged policy may
vary from supervisor to supervisor, the evideplantiffs offer concaming common training is
sufficient at this stage to shavcommon policy. “[A] formal plicy is not required, and indeed,
even where a formal policy is compliant witlte FLSA on its face, an employer may still be
liable for FLSA violations occurring in conon practice.”_Campbell010 WL 3326752 at *4.
Plaintiffs have clearly presented more thanagest showing of common practices. Moreover,
while there may be conflicting evidence on this éssueighing the evidends not appropriate at

this stage of the litigation, see, e.g. hiNeelman, 822 F. Supp. 2d at 751, and, as discussed

above, plaintiffs have offered at least some ewddhat such a policy did in fact exist, which is
all that conditional class certification requires.

Second, plaintiffs allege that defendantslated the FLSA by rounding janitor time to
the nearest 15 minutes when janitors arrivedtateork. In support of fls allegation, plaintiffs
point to Scrub’s General Manatgetestimony that “all hourly jatorial employees of Scrub are
subject to have their @l hours recorded on their time cards to be rounded in some way.”
Plaintiffs’ allegation is further supported by apt-in plaintiff's description of how she was
trained to deduct 15 minutes when a janitor &as more minutes late and how she observed
others imposing the same deductions.

Finally, plaintiffs allege tht defendants deducted 30 minutes from the time janitors
worked each day to account for meal breaks. Defendants allegedly did so even though janitors

were routinely interrupted during breaks and ordeoework. According to plaintiffs, janitors



who were responsible for cleaning airplaneicgalvere always on cadind, according to one,
“[could] not refuse to clean a plane during owahbreak.” Contrary tdefendants’ arguments,
an individualized inquiry into “Wether an individual has a ataifor work performed during the

meal period” is not required at this tim8ee, e.g., Brand v. Comcast Corp., No. 12-CV-1122,

2012 WL 4482124, at *6 (N.D. lll. Sept. 26, 2012)hat plaintiff's FLSA claims may later
require a more individualized inoy does not preclude authorizimgtice of their claims at this
first stage.”).

As outlined above, plaintiffs have presehsafficient evidence to make the modest
factual showing of a common policy or plarviolate the FLSA in regard to employees who
worked at O’Hare. Consequently, conditionakslaertification is appropriate as to all Scrub
janitors who worked at O’HarePlaintiffs, however, have nptesented any evidence concerning
the 145 Scrub employees who worked at non-ailpodtions, and therefore have failed to make
any showing that the named plaintiffs are sinhylaituated to those individuals. As such,
conditional class certification is nappropriate in regard to Sdy janitors who did not work at
O’Hare.

In addition to disputing the scope of theatiute class, the parties also disagree on the
logistics of issuing notice andelwording of that notice. Dendants object to plaintiffs’
proposed class definition including referenc&toub subsidiaries, affiliates, predecessors,
and/or successors. Defendansoatontend that the proper notferiod is three years from the
date of the certification order, ntbtiree years prior to the date plaintiffs filed their complaint.
Finally, defendants oppose any form of notideeothan by mail and seek to limit the opt-in

period to 60 days.



The parties are directed to meet and coobercerning a mutually agreeable notice. The
court, however, issues the following guidelines rduey the parties’ dispas. The court rejects
including reference to Scrub subsidiariesiliates, predecessors, and or/successors, because
plaintiffs have not identified any such entgtisor have they provideahy persuasive evidence
that such entities are ssue in this lawsuitShould discovery reveal asych entities, plaintiffs
may seek appropriate relief. Additionally, becapisentiffs have alleged a willful violation of
the FLSA, the class period shall begin on Octdze 2010, three years prior to plaintiffs filing

suit. See 29 U.S.C. § 255(ag(sng a three-year limitations ped for willful violations); See

also, Babych v. Psychiatric Solutions, .indo. 09-C-8000, 2011 WL 5507374, at *8 (N.D. Ill.
Nov. 9, 2011) (“the relevant timeegod is the three years pritar the filing of [plaintiff's]

complaint”); Lukas v. Advocate Health Caxetwork and Subsidiaries, No. 14-C-2740, 2014

WL 4783028 (N.D. lll. Sept. 24, 2014¥siven that plaintiffs do naappear to take issue with
including a disclaimer conceng the court’s position on the caseg shall be included in the
notice. Additionally, notice shall be praad in English, Spanish, and Polish.
In regard to the logistics d@fistributing notice, th court requires defendants to turn over
only the names and addressepatential class members, anchdtices are returned undelivered,
individual phone numbers and email address®ll be provided, as needed, subject to
production under a protective order limiting the use of that information. In addition to mailing
out notices, plaintiffs are also paitted to have notices postedadit Scrub offices at O’Hare.
Including notices with employee paychecks is not necessary at this time. Defendants’ suggested
disclaimer concerning non-retaliation seems sufficient to quell any concerns potential class

members may have about joining ttollective action. Finally, ikight of the large number of



potential class members, the court concludasdlv5-day period is a reasonable amount of time
to give potential plaintiffs to join the lawsuit.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, plaintiffs’ manifor conditional class certification and
issuance of a notice ofdlcollective action is granted in parid denied in part. The court
conditionally certifies a class wsisting of all individuals Wo were and/or are currently
employed by Scrub as hourly non-exempt emgésyat O’Hare International Airport between
October 24, 2010, through to the present, whoseopayas calculated from supervisor payroll
input sheets and who were not paid for all time wdrkPlaintiffs’ motion is denied to the extent
that plaintiffs requestedonditional certification o& class that included &b janitors who work
or worked at non-O’Hare locations. The partse ordered to meand confer regarding a
mutually agreeable notice that is to be submiittethe court on or before June 2, 2015. This

matter is set for status on June 9, 2015.

ENTER: April 27,2015

o). Galitie,

Robert W. Gettleman
United States District Judge
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